

EUROPEAN COMMISSION EUROSTAT

Directorate E: Social and regional statistics and geographical information system Unit E-3: Education, health and other social fields

EUROSTAT WORKING PAPERS

Population and social conditions 3/1998/E/n° 10

COVERAGE OF HEALTH TOPICS BY SURVEYS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

C. Hupkens*

University of Maastricht,	Department of Medic	cal Sociology and Statistics	Netherlands
---	---------------------	------------------------------	-------------

The views expressed in this document are the author's and do not necessarily reflect the opinion of the European Commission or of their organizations.

Copyright: Commission européenne 1997

Mail: Bâtiment Jean Monnet, Rue Alcide de Gasperi, L-2920 Luxembourg
Offices: Bâtiment Joseph Bech, 5 Rue Alphonse Weicker, L-2721 Luxembourg - Office: BECH D2/733
Telephone: direct line (+352)4301.32011, switchboard 43011. Fax: 4301.35399
Telex: COMEU B 21877. Telegraphic address: COMEUR Luxembourg.

COVERAGE OF HEALTH TOPICS BY SURVEYS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

Doc. OS/E3/97/HIS/2 rev.1 (EN)



EUROPEAN COMMISSION



STATISTICAL OFFICE OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

Directorate E: Social and regional statistics and geographical information system
Unit: Education, health and other social fields
Tel. (352) 4301-32011, Fax (352) 4301-35399

Doc OS/E3/97/HIS/2 rev.1 (EN)

WORKING GROUP ON 'PUBLIC HEALTH STATISTICS'

20-21 November 1997

Glesener A+B

COVERAGE OF HEALTH TOPICS BY SURVEYS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

Prepared by: Christianne Hupkens - University of Maastricht, Department of Medical Sociology

COVERAGE OF HEALTH TOPICS BY SURVEYS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

and Statistics Netherlands

CONTENTS

4	T . 1 .*	
	Introductio	n
1	muoducuo	ш

- 1.1 Aims of the present study
- 1.2 Linkage with existing harmonisation activities
- 2 Health and health related areas
 - 2.1 EU action programmes in the field of public health
 - 2.2 Selection of health related areas and topics
- Inventory of health interview surveys and other surveys on health in 18 European countries
 - 3.1 Methods
 - 3.2 Results
- 4 Coverage of health related areas and topics by surveys
 - 4.1 Methods
 - 4.2 Results
- 5 Comparability of questions in different surveys
 - 5.1 Chronic conditions
 - 5.2 Height and weight of adults
 - 5.3 Dental health: missing teeth
 - 5.4 Dental health: toothless persons
 - 5.5 Dental health: dental prosthesis
 - 5.6 Present and former smoking
 - 5.7 In patient care
 - 5.8 Self perceived health
 - 5.9 Out patient care: general practitioner
- 6 Conclusions and recommendations
 - 6.1 Interpretation of the results
 - 6.2 Recommendations for future actions

References

COVERAGE OF HEALTH TOPICS BY SURVEYS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

Annex 2.1	Non-exhaustive list of areas in which health indicators may be established (according to the Community action on health monitoring)
Annex 2.2	List of survey areas in 10 action programmes in the field of public health
Annex 2.3	List of survey topics in 10 action programmes in the field of public health
Annex 3.1	Letter sent by Eurostat to national institutes
Annex 3.2	Form sent by Eurostat to national institutes
Annex 3.3	A description of health interview surveys and other health related surveys in 18 European countries
Annex 4.1	Overview of health related topics in each survey
Annex 4.2	Overview of health related topics: survey years for each country
Annex 5.1	Overview of survey questions

1 Introduction

1.1 Aims of the present study

As part of the statistical framework programme 1993-1997 and in view of several Community programmes on health, like on health promotion and on health monitoring Eurostat is developing a system of health statistics for the EU on the health status of the population, and on determinants, services and resources related to health. The present report describes one of the projects executed in order to support this elaboration.

The general aim of this project is to make a detailed inventory of data on health and health-related domains that are gathered by population surveys in each of the 15 MS. In order to get a more extensive picture of the surveys performed in Western Europe, also the main national health surveys of Norway, Iceland and Switzerland are included.

The specific aims of the project are the following:

- 1 Inventory of recent national health interview surveys and similar surveys with a substantial health component in the 15 MS of the EU and in 3 additional countries (1994-1996),
- 2 Inventory of future plans with regard to national health interview and similar surveys in these countries (1997-1999),
- 3 Overview of the coverage of health and health related areas, as mentioned in the EU programmes, by these surveys,
- 4 Overview of how these health and health related areas are measured: study of the wording of the national questions, inter-survey comparisons and comparisons with recommended instruments (if available).

The purpose of the detailed inventory is: to collect information on how health and health related areas are already measured in MS by means of population surveys, to facilitate harmonisation activities in order to improve comparability and to explore the possibilities for adequate collection of data from these national surveys by Eurostat.

1.2 Linkage with existing harmonisation activities

The European Community Household Panel (ECHP) is a harmonised EU-wide survey developed by Eurostat in co-operation with the National Statistical Institutes (NSIs); sample size is 5,000 households on average per country. The first wave in 1994 was carried out in all MS at that time; 126,000 persons of 16 years and older were interviewed in 60,000 households. Each year until 1999 one wave will be executed, and thus in total 6 waves will be carried out. The survey contains a small health section (5 topics) and some health related indicators in other sections. In an annex to this report (which will be added later) this section will be discussed, with the aim to complete the information on data availability. Given the limited space for a health component in the ECHP, covering the wide area of social events in a birds' eye view, it can of course by no means provide all information on health which could best be collected by means of national surveys.

The Eurobarometer is a half-yearly opinion survey funded by the Commission of the European Communities. It is EU-wide fielded via market research organisations; sample size is 1,000 persons for most countries. The main survey is on opinions regarding the European Union, but 'supplements' have been added to the survey, among others on questions that cover parts of the information needs for some of the EU health programmes (cancer, drugs, aids). In an annex (which will be added later to this report) recent health-related modules in the Eurobarometer will be discussed. The inclusion of health related topics in the Eurobarometer can only partially fulfil the information needs (relatively small sample size, quality aspects).

Another very important international activity is the WHO Health For All indicators project (HFA, only the 'survey indicators') and in particular the WHO-Euro HIS project. In the following paragraphs the items related to these HFA indicators are presented separately in the list of areas/topics extracted from the EU public health programmes. The recommended instruments in the WHO/NCBS publication 'Health Interview Surveys. Towards international harmonisation of methods and instruments' (WHO, 1996) are used as a reference for evaluating the national questions on the items for which common instruments exist. The results of a WHO-Euro enquiry on items in health interview surveys conducted in 1995, the so-called survey of surveys, could not yet be

included in this study (WHO, 1997a, Fourth Consultation to develop common methods and instruments for health interview surveys in Europe, Copenhagen, 26-28 February 1997, INFO020305/26).

2 Health and health related areas

2.1 EU action programmes in the field of public health

As mentioned above, in the present report an inventory is made of the coverage by surveys of health and health related areas as mentioned in EU action programmes. Within the framework for action in the field of public health (COM (93) 559 final) diseases or health threats are identified, that have a large impact on the health status of the Community population and that can be prevented by appropriate actions taken at Community level. Based on these arguments, priority areas for Community action in the field of public health have been specified, covering both horizontal programmes dealing with several topics or diseases, and vertical programmes dealing with one topic or disease group. The following priority areas have been distinguished:

- 1 Health promotion, education, information and training
- 2 Health data and indicators, and monitoring and surveillance of diseases
- 3 Cancer
- 4 Drugs
- 5 AIDS and other communicable diseases
- 6 Accidents and injuries
- 7 Pollution related diseases
- 8 Rare diseases
- 9 Other health threats

For actions concerning disease prevention and health promotion knowledge about existing health problems is required. In order to ascertain that actions attain their objectives and actually lead to the improvements intended, it is necessary to measure changes in health as well as the impact of policies, programmes, and actions. Thus, appropriate measures to monitor health and its determinants, as well

as a capacity for monitoring and evaluation of actions are needed. Therefore, health data and indicators have been identified as one of the priority areas within the framework for action in the field of public health. The European Parliament and the Council of the European Union have adopted a programme of Community action on health monitoring (COM (95) 449 final; Decision No 1400/97/EC). This programme covers the areas of public health mentioned above.

The Community action programme on health monitoring has three objectives, namely:

- establish a system to monitor health and health determinants throughout the Community
- facilitate planning, monitoring and evaluation of Community programmes and actions,
- support national health policies of MS.

Annex II of the Decision lists a number of areas in which indicators may be established as part of the health monitoring system (see Annex 2.1).

With regard to the collection of data on health, the Community action on health monitoring intends to lead to a fast and cost-effective implementation of data registers by building on existing national data bases, which are validated by Member States' authorities. These data may have to be supplemented by specific surveys in order to collect data that are not available by other means. As MS often define their health data and indicators differently, the comparability of the existing data from MS is currently inadequate, and thus the correspondence should be improved. In general it is easier to harmonise survey questions, instruments and methodologies than elements in existing registries. Moreover, activities have already been initiated in this area by WHO-Euro, Reves and the MS. Consequently, harmonisation is likely to be less time- and resource consuming in the case of surveys than in the case of registrations (COM (95) 449 final).

In the preparation of the Health Monitoring programme, the recommendations of the High Level Committee on Health have been used extensively (Ministry of Health, Denmark, 1994). This Committee comprises senior representatives of the Health Ministries of the MS, who advise the Commission on health matters. In 1993 this Committee set up the 'Working Party on Health Data and Indicators' to assist in the development of a Community health monitoring system. The Working Party made a comprehensive review of definitions and sources of available indicators at the European level collected by Eurostat, WHO, and OECD.

With regard to the priority areas mentioned in the Community action in the field of public health (COM (93) 559 final), programmes are available for areas 1-8. The programmes for areas 6-8 are not yet formally adopted by the Parliament and the Council.

- 1 Community action on health promotion, information, education and training (COM (94) 202 final; Decision No 645/96/EC),
- 2 Community action on health monitoring (COM (95) 449 final; Decision No 1400/97/EC),
- 3 Community action plan to combat cancer (COM (94) 83 final; Decision No 646/96/EC),
- 4 Community action on the prevention of drug dependence (COM (94) 223 final; Decision No 102/97/EC),
- 5 Community action on the prevention of AIDS and certain other communicable diseases (Decision No 647/96/EC),
- 6 Community action on injury prevention (COM (97) 178 final),
- 7 Community action on pollution-related diseases (COM (97) 266 final),
- 8 Community action on rare diseases (COM (97) 225 final).

These programmes have been screened with regard to interview data that may be needed for evaluation purposes.

In addition, we also included:

- the HFA survey-indicators (see above) (WHO, 1996, List of health for all indicators for which health interview surveys are relevant, Table I, page 13-14)
- the survey indicators that were proposed in 1994 by the 'Working Party on Community Health
 Data and Indicators' and adopted by the High Level Committee on Health (HLC, see above)
 (Ministry of Health, Denmark, 1994)
- information needs extracted from HELIOS II: Third Community action programme to assist
 disabled people. This programme is related to the ones listed above and relevant for the present
 inventory of health survey coverage.)

2.2 Selection of health related areas and topics

Based on the information needs of the programmes mentioned above, we made an overview of areas, that may be included in health interview surveys, and on a more detailed level we composed a

list of topics. Regarding the content of this list, the Community action programme on health promotion is the most influential, as health interview surveys are an important source of information on lifestyle and other topics within this programme (COM (94) 202 final). In fact significant parts of the areas and topics extracted from the vertical programmes like cancer, drugs, and aids are also linked to health promotion.

The proposed Community action programme on health monitoring 'serves' the other health programmes (COM (95) 449 final). Therefore, the 'areas and topics' list is structured according to the selection of 'areas in which health indicators may be established under a Community health monitoring system'. In this programme the areas have been classified according to five main categories, namely:

- A Health status
- B Life style and health habits
- C Living and working conditions
- D Health protection
- E Demographic and other social factors

A complete overview of the areas is listed in Annex 2.1.

Starting with the Health Monitoring programme, areas that could not be measured by means of health interview surveys were excluded. The selected areas that might be covered by health interview surveys are underlined in Annex 2.1. Secondly, it was checked whether areas that were mentioned in the other programmes were included in this list; if not, they were added. This procedure was also used on the more detailed level of topics. The complete list of areas is presented in Annex 2.2, and the list of topics in Annex 2.3. These overviews also include references to the relevant programmes. Only from the programme on rare diseases no topics could be extracted that could be measured by means of health interview surveys, and therefore this programme is not included in these overviews. The list of topics in Annex 2.3 indicates that some topics are derived from other topics. To give an example: respondents will not be asked to give their body mass index (BMI), but their weight and height. Thus, BMI will be computed with help of the figures on height and weight. Similarly, given the occurrence of more than one disease, co-morbidity can be assessed.

It appears that the amount of data that are needed for support of these programmes and that may be gathered by health interview surveys is considerable. It should be clarified here that this is a tentative list of topics and not of indicators; a future Committee to be established under the Health Monitoring programme will make decisions on a list of indicators for EU purposes.

This overview clearly shows the similarities and differences between the programmes. The topics of the Health Monitoring programme correspond with those of the High Level Committee and with the Health for All programme of the WHO-Euro. On the other hand, some of the topics mentioned in the Health Promotion programme and the specific programmes on cancer, drugs, AIDS, disability, injuries and pollution-related diseases are not specifically mentioned in the Health Monitoring programme, and thus these topics are appended. Especially in the area of life style and health habits topics are added, like attitudes regarding health promotion, and risk factors for cancer.

This overview serves as a reference to make an examination of the health and health related topics which are included in national health interview and similar surveys. For each survey the areas and topics covered are marked on this list. Next, for each specific topic a listing of surveys that cover this topic is made. Also the phrasing of the questions that are included in these surveys is listed in order to examine the comparability of these questions.

3 Inventory of health interview surveys and other surveys on health in 18 European countries

3.1 Methods

In order to gather information on national surveys on health or health related topics in the EU, NSIs, Ministries of Health and other institutes which execute such surveys were asked to send information. In August 1996 Eurostat sent letters to these institutes explaining the aim and the background of the inventory. This letter is included in Annex 3.1.

The institutes were asked to provide questionnaires of health interview surveys, surveys on impairments, disabilities and handicaps, multi purpose surveys, standard of living surveys or other surveys with a health related component, which were carried out since 1994. Also older surveys

which might be repeated in the coming years were requested. It was asked to forward questionnaires in the original language(s) and if available also in English. Moreover, the institutes were asked to send publications and information on (provisional) plans for future surveys (until the year 2000). Together with the letter a form was enclosed to gather some general information on these surveys, like mode of data collection, sample size and non-response (see Annex 3.2). Finally, for each country a list of institutes that were addressed was attached. If the person who answered the letter was aware of other institutes than those listed which also conducted surveys on health or health-related topics, he/she was asked to provide the addresses of those institutes.

3.2 Results

Table 3.3 shows the institutes that were addressed and their reactions. First, in each country of the EU at least one and at most five institutes were approached, and in total 39 institutes were addressed. Moreover, 3 institutes (in Austria, Germany and Luxembourg) referred to another institute, that conducted health related surveys, and also these institutes were requested to collaborate. In addition, also the NSIs in Norway, Iceland and Switzerland were asked to send information regarding health interview surveys and other health related surveys. Institutes, which did not reply, were sent reminders and were contacted by telephone. Of the 45 institutes, 43 institutes replied, and the majority of these institutes (33) reported specific health surveys. National references to international surveys like the European Community Household Panel are not included in Table 3.1 and 3.2. Also references to studies that obtain data from registrations instead of surveys are excluded, as this is beyond the scope of the inventory. In total we received information with regard to 78 surveys. The associates of the NSIs, Ministries of Health and other institutes, whom we contacted, generally have an overall view of the health related surveys in their country. Indeed, some contributors included information of surveys, that were conducted by other institutes, or referred to other institutes. We may conclude that these 78 surveys represent the most important national surveys.

Table 3.2 presents general information on these surveys, based on the information of the returned forms. For surveys that are executed more than once, the data reported in the Table refer to the most recent year, for which this information is available (this year is printed in bold). The following aspects are reported:

- how often the survey is repeated
- the data collection method
- the number of persons and/or households that collaborated
- the non-response
- which institutionalised groups were included: persons living in homes for elderly, nursing homes,
 and/or other habitations, and
- which age groups were addressed.

The column named 'questionnaire' shows which questionnaires were provided, and more specifically the year and language(s) of the questionnaire. The second last column shows which questionnaires are checked to make a listing of the included topics. The following surveys are not analysed:

- surveys for which no questionnaires are available yet,
- surveys that have been conducted before 1994 and that will not be repeated, and
- surveys that address only a specific part of the population like children, adolescents or prisoners.

Of the 78 surveys included in Table 3.2 a total of 52 questionnaires have been checked.

In the last column additional information is added. The footnotes in this column refer to the survey in the same row. Based on these data and on information in reports and papers, a description of recent surveys and future plans in each country is made. This can be found in Annex 3.3.

4 Coverage of health related areas and topics by surveys

4.1 Methods

The questionnaires of the selection of surveys that met the inclusion criteria (see Table 3.2) were screened. Questionnaires in English, French, German and Dutch have been screened in their original language. With regard to the other languages, the collaborating institutes often provided English versions, and if these were not available the questionnaires or at least the health related sections were translated into English by sworn translators.

For each of the 52 questionnaires an overview was made of the questions that referred to one of the topics, mentioned in Annex 2.3. These results are presented in Annex 4.1. As we focused on health questions, the inventory of health related topics is complete. However, as we did not always receive or translate the background questions, the demographic and social factors are not totally complete. In a few cases topics are subdivided, e.g. pharmaceutical products (within category D Health Protection) covers both prescribed medicines and 'over the counter' medicines. If reference is made to prescribed medicines in a questionnaire, the question is assigned to this topic, and if reference is made to medicines, without any further specification, the question is allocated to pharmaceutical products. Thus, in general a question is assigned to the most specific topic available. Of course not each health related question in the screened questionnaires could be covered by one of the topics. References to general complaints for instance could not be recorded in the topic list. Therefore, a list of health related questions that could not be included in Annex 4.1 was made for each questionnaire.

4.2 Results

Annex 4.1 shows for each topic which surveys cover that topic, and the first column presents the total number of surveys that cover a topic. In order to assess how often these topics are questioned Annex 4.2 presents the years in which these topics were included in a survey for each country. This Annex also shows how many countries gather at least once information on these topics. Health related topics that were included in at least 20 surveys are presented in Table 4.1. The following conclusions can be drawn from these overviews.

Health status

- questions on self-perceived health, chronic conditions, physical disability, activity limitations,
 mental health and stress, disease-specific morbidity, and adult body weight and height are
 included in more than half of the questionnaires, and information on these topics is gathered in 12
 to 16 countries.
- items that refer to social network and children's body weight and height are included in 11 to 15
 questionnaires in 10 or 11 countries,
- the additional topics are included in a smaller number of questionnaires.

Life style and health habits

- questions on present and former smoking, the consumption of alcoholic drinks and on the level of
 leisure activities are included most frequently (in 22 to 37 questionnaires) in 14 or 16 countries,
- the consumption of narcotics and psychotropic substances are questioned in 9 surveys in 8 countries,
- the level of daily activities and vigorous exercise are included in one-fourth of the surveys (13 questionnaires) in half of the countries (8 respectively 9 countries),
- with regard to diet the consumption of fruit and vegetables are included most often (in 15 surveys and 11 countries),
- information on breast feeding is gathered in 9 surveys in 9 countries,
- a couple of surveys refer to knowledge on healthy lifestyles and attitudes regarding health promotion,
- the other areas, like exposure to ultraviolet radiation and personal hygiene, are hardly enclosed.

Living and working conditions

- occupation is included in nearly each survey,
- one third of the surveys cover items on housing conditions, like type of dwelling and number of rooms.
- accidents at home or school, at work, leisure accidents and traffic accidents are included 13 to 17 surveys in about 10 countries,
- topics relating to the external environment like air pollution and exposure to noise are included in a
 small number of questionnaires, and no questionnaire covers questions on radiation.

Health protection

- surveys in most countries cover questions on outpatient and inpatient care (respectively 41 surveys in 15 countries, and 34 surveys in 13 countries),
- items on the use of medicines are covered by 25 questionnaires in 14 countries,
- 19 questionnaires in 13 countries include questions on dental care and 17 questionnaires in 11
 countries cover questions on technical aids,
- items on screening for cancer are covered in 10 surveys in 9 countries.
- questions on vaccination are questioned in 7 surveys in 6 countries.

Demographic and social factors

- information on background variables like gender, age, marital status, and education are included in nearly all surveys,
- questions on income, population subgroups (operationalised by nationality), health-insurance status and region of residence are included in about half of the surveys.

Table 4.1

Topics that are covered most frequently by national health interview surveys

Topics	Surveys	Countries
out patient care	41	15
self-perceived health ¹	37	16
present smoking ¹	37	16
chronic conditions	36	15
physical disability (long-term) ¹	34	15
in patient care	34	13
consumption of alcohol	31	16
former smoking ¹	28	14
activity limitations/temporary disability ¹	27	14
mental health ¹	26	13
pharmaceutical products	25	14
disease-specific morbidity	24	12
weight (adults) ¹	24	14
height (adults) ¹	23	14
level of leisure activities ¹	22	14

¹ recommended instruments available (WHO, 1996)

5 Comparability of questions in different surveys

In order to examine the comparability of survey question, this chapter describes the following themes

for a selection of topics:

1 related indicators (if applicable),

2 recommended or provisional questions (if available),

3 points for attention, that are used as a checklist for the comparison,

4 the differences and similarities between the questions that are examined,

5 the comparability of derived measures (e.g. co-morbidity in the case of chronic conditions).

Finally, conclusions on the comparability and recommendations to improve the comparability are

presented.

For each topic that is included in this chapter, Annex 5.1 reports comments concerning each

question of the 52 surveys that cover this topic. In addition, for some topics the wording of the

questions and the answer possibilities is reported.

5.1 **Chronic conditions**

1 Chronic conditions: related indicators

- prevalence of specific diseases

- overall prevalence of chronic conditions

- co-morbidity

2 Chronic conditions: provisional questions

In the case of chronic conditions, two types of questions can be distinguished: disease specific

questions and open ended questions. Disease specific questions include a checklist of conditions, and

respondents are questioned whether or not they have these conditions. Open-ended questions

inquire whether respondents have a chronic condition, and eventually which condition(s). These two

types of questions will be discussed separately.

Health and health related interview surveys can include one type or both types of questions. In

addition, detailed questions on specific diseases can be enclosed. The Danish Health and Morbidity

C:\USR\SANDRINE\MDS\9035EN.DOC 21/05/2001

23

Survey of 1994 for instance enclosed a number of questions on asthma and allergies. As these questions differ between the surveys, the comparability of these detailed questions is not examined. Examples of provisional questions of both types are reported below

provisional disease specific question (WHO, 1996, pp. 95-98)

Now I am going to read for you a list of conditions/diseases. Please tell me for every disease/condition whether you suffer from it (now or in the past 12 months).

- Asthma (Yes/No for every disease)
- Chronic bronchitis
- Chronic heart disease
- Hypertension
- Stroke and effects of stroke
- Stomach ulcer/duodenal ulcer
- Chronic back problems
- Chronic skin condition
- Disease of the liver, liver cirrhosis
- Diabetes mellitus
- Thyroid trouble or goitre
- Epilepsy
- Migraine
- Arthritis
- Other, namely.....

provisional open ended question (based on questions in ECHP)

- 1 Do you have any chronic physical or mental health problem, illness or disability?
 - Yes
 - No (go to Q..)
- 2 Are you hampered in your daily activities by this chronic physical or mental health problem, illness or disability?
 - Yes
 - No

provisional open ended question (Health survey for England)

Do you have any long-standing illness, disability or infirmity? By long-standing I mean anything that has troubled you over a period of time, or that it is likely to affect you over a period of time.

- yes
- no

If yes, what is the matter with you? (record fully, probe for detail)

- _____

Can I check, do you have any other long-standing illness, disability or infirmity?

- yes
- no

(up to 6 long-standing illnesses)

Does this illness or disability limit your activities in any way?

yes

no

3 Chronic conditions: points for attention

1 type of question

Of the 52 questionnaires that have been examined, 36 questionnaires include at least one question on chronic conditions:

- 13 surveys include only disease specific questions
 (A01, A02, A03, A05, D03, D04, D05, D06, FIN01, F01, F03, F07 and I02),
- 14 surveys include only open ended questions
 (EL01, FIN04, FIN05, FIN08, FIN12, NL02, S01, UK01, UK02, UK04, UK05, UK06, UK09 and N01),
- 9 surveys include both types
 (B01, DK01, E01, I01, NL01, P01, UK03, UK10 and CH01).

2 type of conditions

The checklist of disease specific questions may cover different types of conditions: for instance only physical conditions or also mental conditions. Also the terminology may vary: the checklist can include formal medical terms, descriptions of symptoms and/or complaints.

Open ended questions on chronic conditions may refer explicitly to physical and/or mental conditions or not. As respondents can answer in their own words, the answers probably cover medical terms, symptoms and complaints.

3 the criteria for reporting diseases

Respondents can be asked to mention diseases they *have*, diseases which *hamper* them in their *daily activities* or diseases which are *diagnosed or treated* by a doctor.

4 the reference period

Questions can refer to the present state of health or to the occurrence of chronic diseases during a specific period (e.g. the past year).

4 Chronic conditions: differences between disease specific questions

22 Surveys include questions that are based on a checklist of chronic conditions and diseases. These questions differ in a number of respects (see Annex 5.1 for the exact wording of these questions).

1 the type of diseases

The German Survey on Environment, Health and Health Promotion (D06) uses a list of diseases, which is based on the affected organs or organ systems.

Some checklists include temporary conditions like fractures or children's diseases (e.g. the Austrian and Belgian Health Interview Surveys A01 and B01), and some lists include mental conditions like depression and sleeping problems (e.g. the Belgian Health Interview Survey B01, two French Surveys F01 and F03).

2 the number of diseases on the checklist

The number of diseases in these lists vary between 2 and 40. Most lists include 15 to 30 diseases.

3 the number of diseases that can be reported

The majority of the surveys allow to report for each disease whether or not the respondent has it. Only the Austrian surveys (A01 and A02) limit the number of answers (max. 3 respectively 4 answers possible).

4 the criteria for reporting diseases

Most often, the respondents are asked which diseases they have and/or from which diseases they suffer (18 questionnaires). One questionnaire inquires about diseases which hamper the respondents in their daily activities (A02). The Spanish National Health Survey (E01), the Finnish Survey on Health Behaviour (FIN01) and the Swiss Health Interview survey (CH01) use different criteria: these surveys examine illnesses which are diagnosed and/or treated by a doctor.

5 the possibility to add diseases that are not covered by the checklist

Half of the surveys include an additional answer category 'other diseases or disabilities' (11 questionnaires). Seven of these surveys ask to specify this disease or disability. Thus, respondents can add diseases which are not covered by the checklist. Moreover, if they did not recognise the terminology of their disease in the checklist, they can report their disease or symptoms in their own words. This answer may be recoded to the proper category later on.

6 the reference period

Eight questionnaires do not specify a period. As these questions are phrased in the present tense, they refer to the present state of health. The Spanish National Health Survey (E01) and the French survey on Health Care and Social Insurance (F03) stress that they examine diseases from which the respondents *currently* have. Six surveys examine which diseases the respondents *ever* had. If reference to a certain period is made, the question often refers to the last year or the past 12 months (6 questionnaires).

7 additional questions

Besides examining whether respondents have a disease, some surveys also investigate

- whether this disease is treated, or more specifically treated in hospital (e.g. A01, F03, UK03),
- whether respondents still have or whether they had this disease (e.g. A01, DK01, I01), and
- since when they had it (e.g. F03, I01).

5 Chronic conditions: differences between open ended questions

23 Surveys include open ended questions on chronic conditions. Possible sources of dissimilarities between these questions are described in this paragraph and the wording of the questions is reported in Annex 5.1.

1 the type of diseases

Nearly all surveys emphasise that they cover long-standing or chronic conditions (16 questionnaires). In addition to long-standing conditions, 5 questions also cover accidents and temporary diseases. The Spanish National Health Survey (E01), for instance, specifies that illnesses are directed, which restricted the respondent's activities for more than 10 days. Two surveys (UK05 and CH01) emphasise that also mental conditions should be mentioned.

COVERAGE OF HEALTH TOPICS BY SURVEYS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

2 the description of the disease

The majority of the surveys ask the respondent to name the disease, or if the respondent does not

know the name, to mention:

- the symptoms or complaints (e.g. FIN04, P01, S01, UK03, UK09, UK10),

- where in the body the complaints are located (e.g. DK01, FIN04, S01), and/or

- what the doctor stated (e.g. FIN04, S01).

3 the number of diseases that can be reported

Mostly up to 4, 5 or 6 diseases can be reported. About half of the surveys explicitly investigate

whether the respondent suffers from more than one disease (e.g. DK01, FIN04, FIN08, S01,

UK09, UK10).

The Finnish Living Conditions Survey (FIN04) encourages respondents to mention another disease

by stressing that 'even a very minor illness' should be added; in addition the respondents receive a

list of diseases, which they should check. Finally, in this survey and in the Swedish Survey on Living

Conditions (S01) respondents are asked whether they take medicines 'for any other chronic illness'

in order to complete the reporting of chronic diseases as far as possible.

4 the time period

The majority of the surveys do not mention a specific period, but they refer to the present, as the

questions are stated in the present tense. Two surveys explicitly refer to the past year (E01 and

UK06), one survey to the last four weeks (I01) and one survey to the past two weeks (P01).

5 restriction in daily activities

Most surveys include an additional question to examine whether and to which extent the respondent

is restricted in his/her daily activities by the illness.

6 Chronic conditions: tentative conclusions on the comparability

Disease specific questions

The checklists vary considerably and also the wording of the questions is not comparable. Hence,

the results of these questions are not comparable. To give an example, when respondents are asked

C:\USR\SANDRINE\MDS\9035EN.DOC 21/05/2001

28

COVERAGE OF HEALTH TOPICS BY SURVEYS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

to mark diseases that are diagnosed or treated by a doctor, they may report fewer diseases than

when they are asked to mark diseases they have. Similarly, respondents may report fewer diseases

when they are asked to mention diseases they currently have than when they are asked which

diseases they ever had.

It is recommended to develop a common question, focusing on:

- a common list of diseases (for instance based on ICD codes),

- the criteria for diseases that should be reported (e.g. diseases the respondent has or suffers

from).

- whether or not a specific reference period should be included in the question,

- whether or not respondents should be asked to add diseases, and if so, which questions are

advised.

Open ended questions

The questions included in the following 16 surveys are partly comparable: B01, DK01, FIN04,

FIN05, FIN08, NL01, S01, UK01, UK02, UK03, UK04, UK05, UK09, UK10, N01 and

CH01. Unfortunately, we cannot assess the comparability of the reported diseases, as we do not

know which classification systems are used to code the answers. For the purpose of international

comparability it is recommended to code the diseases according to the ICD.

Yet, also these questions show small deviations that may affect the results. For instance, questions

that indicate that also mental conditions should be mentioned will lead to higher estimates than

questions that do not include this specification. Therefore, it is advised to develop a recommendation

for this type of question.

7 Chronic conditions: the comparability of derived measures

Prevalence of specific diseases

Based on the disease specific questions, comparable estimates of the prevalence of specific diseases

may be calculated for diseases that have a low fatality, that are well known, and that are included in

most checklists, like asthma or diabetes.

The comparability of prevalence figures, based on the open ended questions, depends on the

comparability of the classification systems that are used to code the answers.

C:\USR\SANDRINE\MDS\9035EN.DOC 21/05/2001

29

Overall prevalence of chronic conditions

The comparability of the overall prevalence figures of chronic diseases based on the disease specific questions is very limited, as a result of the differences between the questions and the checklists. But when there is a short common list, the prevalence of this selection of chronic conditions could be estimated (see also Dunnell, Matheson and Bridgewood (1997) for a discussion of the uses and limitations of survey data on morbidity).

The results based on the open ended questions are probably better comparable, as these questions are more alike than the disease specific questions.

Co-morbidity

Based on both types of questions, co-morbidity can be assessed. With regard to the comparability of this measure, the differences mentioned above should be taken into account. Especially the extent to which respondents are encouraged to mention more than one chronic disease affects the results.

5.2 Height and weight of adults

1 Height and weight: related indicator

body mass index BMI

2 Height and weight: recommended question

Recommended question (WHO (1996) page 85)
What is your height without shoes? cm
How much do you weigh without clothes and shoes? kg
(Pregnant women should be asked what their weight was before pregnancy.)

3 Height and weight: points for attention

1 correction for clothes and shoes

In order to correct for the weight of clothing, respondents may be asked to estimate their weight without clothes and shoes. Similarly, respondents may be asked to give their height without shoes.

2 pregnancy

In order to compute BMI as an indicator for overweight or underweight, pregnant women should be asked to give their weight before pregnancy.

3 type of survey

The respondents' answers may be biased by social desirability. Possibly, the effects of this bias differ between self-administered questionnaires and face to face questionnaires. On the one hand, social desirability may occur more often in interview situations when people have to mention their stature to the interviewer, but on the other hand, the deviation from the actual body weight may be smaller when an interviewer is present.

4 Height and weight: differences between questions

Questions on height and weight that are apparent in 23 surveys are examined. The wording of these questions is included in Annex 5.1.

1 correction for clothes and shoes

About one third of the questions explicitly mention that height without shoes and weight without shoes and clothing should be estimated (8 surveys: B01, D06, E01, E02, NL01, P01, N01 and CH01). One of the Finnish surveys (FIN01) asks for body weight estimated with *light* clothing. Also if these corrections are not specified, most people probably mention their weight and height without clothing spontaneously. Especially people who want to be thinner may give their weight without clothing. And if someone's height is ever measured by a professional (a doctor or nurse, e.g. for a medical test), he/she probably recalls this height, which is measured without shoes. As a result, the deviation between questions that include this correction and questions that do not may be small.

2 pregnancy

Seven surveys specify that pregnant women should give their weight before pregnancy (B01, E01, FIN08, I01, P01, UK09 and N01). Although the remaining questions do not explicitly include this condition in the questionnaire, it may be included in the interviewers' instructions.

COVERAGE OF HEALTH TOPICS BY SURVEYS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

3 type of questionnaire

Most questionnaires that include questions on body weight and height are face to face questionnaires.

Two surveys use self administered questionnaires (FIN01 and F03) and two surveys apply

telephone interviews (FIN08 and CH01). In the Health Survey for England (UK09) weight and

height are measured by a nurse. Only if measurement was not possible, respondents were asked to

give an estimation of their body height and weight. These different methods may possibly lead to

different results.

4 calculation of BMI

Generally people are asked for their height and weight, and BMI (weight/height²) is computed

afterwards. One questionnaire, however, asks people to calculate their BMI themselves and to give

this figure instead of height and weight (L01). As this concerns a face to face questionnaire, the

interviewer may help the respondent in the computation. Yet, the chance on errors is high, and as

height and weight are not recorded, the calculation cannot be verified.

5 Height and weight: tentative conclusions on the comparability

The differences between the questions are small. Also BMI derived from these questions will be

comparable. Probably other biases, like social desirability or wrong estimations (e.g. respondents

who do not know their stature and give a rough estimation) may affect the reliability to a larger extent

than the differences between the questions, that are discussed above. In order to diminish these

biases as far as possible, it is recommended to include corrections for clothes and shoes, to ask

pregnant women after their weight before pregnancy, and to follow the recommended question.

5.3

Dental health: missing teeth

1 Missing teeth: related indicator

average number of missing teeth (35-44 year)

C:\USR\SANDRINE\MDS\9035EN.DOC 21/05/2001

32

2 Missing teeth: points for attention

1 type of question: open ended question or precoded answer possibilities

In general open ended questions produce more precise results than questions with precoded answer categories: whereas the latter use a categorisation of missing teeth, open ended questions ask for the exact number of missing teeth. Moreover, as no recommended or provisional question is available, answer possibilities may vary.

2 definition of missing teeth

Questions can inquire after the number of *original* teeth respondents have lost, or after the number of missing teeth, that are *not replaced* by false teeth. In addition, it should be clear whether wisdom teeth are included are not.

3 Missing teeth: differences between the questions

Five surveys include questions on missing teeth. The wording of these questions is reported in Annex 5.1.

1 type of question

In contrast to the Scandinavian questions that include determined answer categories (DK01, FIN01, FIN05 and N01), the French question (F01) is open ended.

2 the answer categories

The Finnish and French questionnaires (FIN01, FIN05 and F01) focus on the number of *missing* teeth, and the Danish and Norwegian ones (DK01 and N01) focus on the number of teeth *left*. The response categories of the two latter questionnaires can be converted to the number of missing teeth, but the resulting categorisation differs from the Finnish ones.

1 no teeth left all teeth (28) missing

2 1-9 teeth left 19-27 teeth missing

3 10-19 teeth left 9-18 teeth missing

4 20 or more teeth left 1-8 teeth missing

5 all my teeth left no teeth missing

COVERAGE OF HEALTH TOPICS BY SURVEYS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

3 definition of missing teeth

The French question (F01) inquires after the number of missing teeth that are *not replaced* by a

prosthesis. On the other hand, one of the Finnish questionnaires (FIN05) examine the number of

original teeth that are missing. The additional questions do not specify whether or not teeth that are

replaced by false teeth are defined as missing teeth.

In contrast to the other questionnaires, the French and the Norwegian surveys (F01 and N01) state

that wisdom teeth should not be counted.

4 calculation of the number of missing teeth

The five questions do not allow to calculate the average number of missing teeth (of 35-44 year

olds). Based on the results of the French questionnaire, the average number of missing teeth that are

not replaced can be calculated, and based on the other questionnaires, only the answer category that

is mentioned most often by people aged 35-44 can be counted.

4 Missing teeth: tentative conclusions on the comparability

The wording of the questions is not comparable. Questions that emphasise that wisdom teeth should

not be included will lead to lower figures than questions that do not include this specification.

Moreover, questions using precoded answer categories do not allow to calculate the average

number of missing teeth of 35-44 year. Therefore, it is advised to elaborate a recommended

question, that includes a definition and that is open ended.

5.4 **Dental health: toothless persons**

1 Toothless persons: related indicator

percentage of people aged 65-74 years who are toothless

2 Toothless persons: differences between the questions

Nine surveys include questions concerning toothless respondents. The questions and answer

categories are included in Annex 5.1.

The answers that are underlined refer to persons who have no teeth left. In the French survey (F03)

C:\USR\SANDRINE\MDS\9035EN.DOC 21/05/2001

34

this answer category also includes persons who have lost *nearly* all teeth, and in the Finnish survey (FIN01) the underlined answer category may include people who have false teeth, but who have also some teeth of their own. The other surveys have a separate answer category for toothless persons, which allows for a calculation of the percentage of people aged 65-74 years who are toothless.

3 Toothless persons: tentative conclusions on the comparability

The questions of the Belgian and Dutch surveys are similar, but the other questions are different. With regard to the comparability of the percentage of people aged 65-74 years who are toothless: this can be computed in the majority of the surveys (B01, DK01, FIN05, NL01, S01, UK10 and N01) and can be estimated roughly in 2 surveys (FIN01 and F03).

If a recommended question for the number of missing teeth would be developed, a separate answer category for people who miss all teeth should be included.

5.5 Dental health: dental prosthesis

1 Dental prosthesis: related indicator

percentage of people who have a dental prosthesis

2 Dental prosthesis: differences between questions

Nine questionnaires include questions on dental prostheses. These questions are reported in Annex 5.1. The answers that are underlined refer to persons who have a prosthesis.

The context of these questions differs: the questions in one of the French, and in the Italian and Portuguese surveys (F03, I01, P01) cover all kinds of prostheses and artificial aids, and the Spanish and Swedish questions (E01 and S01) focus on the general state of the respondent's teeth. The remaining questions refer more specifically to the occurrence of dental prostheses. In addition, the Belgian, French and Dutch surveys (B01, F01, F03 and NL01) inquire whether the prosthesis can be removed or not. The Finnish survey (FIN05) examines only removable dentures.

3 Dental prosthesis: tentative conclusions on the comparability

Again the Belgian and Dutch questions are similar. Although all surveys allow to calculate the

proportion of people who have a dental prosthesis, the comparability of the questions is limited.

5.6 Present and former smoking

1 Present and former smoking: related indicators

- proportion of daily smokers
- proportion of occasional smokers
- proportion of ex-smokers
- proportion of people who have never smoked
- proportion of heavy smokers

2 Present and former smoking: recommended questions

Recommended question (WHO (1996) page 73)

- 1 Do you smoke?
- yes, daily
- yes, occasionally
- no
- 2 How many cigarettes do you usually smoke on average each day?
- does not smoke cigarettes
- fewer than 20
- 20 or more [heavy smoker]
- 3 Compared with two years ago would you say you now have reduced smoking?
- yes (end)
- no (end)
- 4 Have you ever smoked?
- yes, daily
- yes, occasionally
- no (end)
- 5 How long ago did you stop smoking?
- less than two years ago
- two years ago or more

3 Present and former smoking: points for attention

1 definition of smokers

Questions may refer to smoking in general or, more specific, to the consumption of cigarettes, cigars and/or pipe. With regard to cigarettes more detailed information can be gathered: namely on the choice between manufactured and hand-rolled cigarettes and between cigarettes with and without filter

2 quantity smoked

Smokers can be asked how many cigarettes, cigars and/or how much pipe tobacco they consume during a certain time period: daily, weekly or monthly. This question can be open ended, and in that case the exact answers can be recorded, or precoded answer categories can be used. In the latter case, a division between less than 20 cigarettes per day and more than 20 cigarettes would be helpful in order to calculate the proportion of heavy smokers.

3 occasional smoking

Questions concerning both present and former smoking may include an answer category 'yes, occasionally' besides 'yes, daily' in order to distinguish irregular from regular smokers. If this is not the case, occasional smokers can be characterised by the quantity of cigarettes, cigars or pipes they smoke: for instance less than 1 per day.

4 Present and former smoking: differences between questions

36 Questionnaires include questions on present and former smoking behaviour. The wording of these questions is presented in Annex 5.1.

1 definition of smokers

The large majority of the questionnaires (27) specify that they refer to the consumption of cigarettes, cigars and pipe. Six questionnaires refer to smoking in general without further specification (D06, FIN08, FIN12, F01, F06 and IS01), and three questionnaires inquire about cigarette smoking (A01, IRL03 and UK07 (the latter is a study among women)).

Some questionnaires make a further distinction between the type of cigarettes. About one third of the questionnaires (13) inquire about the consumption of manufactured cigarettes (or in other words: cigarettes from a pack) and hand-rolled cigarettes (or roll ups, self rolled cigarettes or shag) (D03, D04, FIN01, NL01, NL02, UK01, UK02, UK03, UK05, UK06, UK09, UK10 and N01). About

one fourth of the questionnaires (8) examine whether respondents smoke cigarettes with or without filter (A03, D03, D04, I01, UK01, UK02, UK03 and UK05).

In addition, the Danish questionnaire inquires about the consumption of cheroots (DK01), the Swedish and Swiss questionnaires explore the consumption of cigarillos (S01 and CH01), and the Swedish and Norwegian questionnaires include the consumption of snuff or chewing tobacco (S01 and N01).

2 quantity smoked

Fourteen questionnaires examine the amount of cigarettes, the number of cigars and the amount of pipe tobacco separately using open ended questions (D03, D04, D05, DK01, E01, E02, FIN01, FIN05, NL01, S01, UK01, UK03, UK06 and CH01). The Belgian survey (B01) uses open ended questions to determine the consumption of cigars and pipe, and a precoded question to estimate the daily consumption of cigarettes. One of the French surveys (F03) examines the daily consumption of cigars, cigarillos and pipe together, and that of cigarettes separately.

Fifteen questionnaires examine the amount of cigarettes the respondents generally smoke, but they do not inquire about the amount of cigars and pipe tobacco. Most surveys (11) use open ended questions (FIN12, I01, I02, NL02, P01, UK02, UK05, UK07, UK09, UK10 and N01), and a minority of the surveys (4) use precoded questions (A01, A03, D01 and IRL03).

Most British questionnaires distinguish between the average number of cigarettes smoked on weekdays and at weekends (UK01, UK02, UK05, UK06, UK09 and UK10).

Three questionnaires use open ended questions to inquire about the overall amounts smoked (FIN08, F01 and F06). Two questionnaires, finally, do not examine quantities (D06 and IS01).

3 occasional smoking

To distinguish daily smokers from occasional smokers, half of the questionnaires (18) include an answer category 'occasionally' to the question concerning present smoking. The terminology, however, differs: for instance 'gelegentlich' (A03, D01), 'not every day' (E01, NL02), 'now and then' (FIN12, NL01), or 'from time to time' (S01).

Most questionnaires that do not include such an answer category can estimate the proportion of occasional smokers from the quantities consumed (14 questionnaires). If people smoke less than one cigarette, cigar or pipe per day, for instance, they may be typified as occasional smokers. Only 3

questionnaires do not allow to estimate the proportion of occasional smokers (A01, D06 and IS01).

4 heavy smokers

The majority of the questionnaires ask the respondents for the exact number of cigarettes, cigars and/or pipe tobacco (29 questionnaires). Five questionnaires use precoded answer categories to estimate these amounts (A01, A03, B01, D01 and IRL03). The answer categories of these questionnaires allow to calculate the proportion of people who are heavy smokers (more than 20 cigarettes per day). The two questionnaires that do not examine quantities (D06 and Is01) provide no information on heavy smokers.

5 comparison of present smoking with former smoking

A minority of the questionnaires ask respondents whether they smoke more, less or the same amount compared to before: two questionnaires inquire about changes in smoking behaviour within the last year (D03 and F06), and four questionnaires ask respondents to compare their current smoking habits with those 2 years ago (B01, E01, I01 and P01). Finally, one study asks for a comparison with smoking behaviour 7 years ago, as that survey is repeated every 7 years (UK03).

6 former smoking

All questionnaires but one (ISO1) inspect whether people, who do not smoke currently, have ever smoked or not. Most questionnaires inquire about the former smoking habits of ex-smokers, e.g. when they started smoking, when they stopped, how long they have smoked, and how much they smoked.

7 additional questions

Many questionnaires include additional questions regarding smoking, for instance whether people want to diminish their tobacco consumption and the brand of cigarettes they usually smoke.

5 Present and former smoking: tentative conclusions on the comparability

Generally, the questions differ from the recommended questions. Probably many countries have their own tradition with regard to this topic, as the differences between questionnaires within countries are smaller than between countries. Although the large majority of the questionnaires allow to calculate

the proportions of daily smokers, heavy smokers, occasional smokers, former smokers, and the proportion of people who have never smoked, the findings of different surveys may vary as a result of the differences between the questions. The proportion of occasional smokers, for instance, certainly differs between the surveys as the terminology varies.

In order to get internationally comparable data, the recommended set of questions should be included in the questionnaires. If more information on smoking behaviour is preferred, for instance on the consumption of cigars and pipe tobacco, other questions may be added to the recommended questions. New surveys appear to follow the recommendations, like the Belgian health interview survey did.

5.7 In patient care

1 In patient care: related indicators

- hospitalised (yes/no)
- number of times
- number of days

2 In patient care: provisional question

No recommended question is available. Therefore, a provisional question is presented below.

Provisional question (based on Swinkels, 1996, PHARE seminar on Health Interview Surveys)		
Basic question 1 Have you been admitted to a hospital or clinic during the past 12 months, since (date). (Do not include admissions for childbirth.)		
- yes, times - no		
Additional question (to be answered for all admissions during reference period) How many nights did you spend in the hospital? nights		

3 In patient care: points for attention

1 the context of the question

Questions may focus on in patient care solely, or may focus on different types of care like contacts

with GP's, dentists and other types of out patient care concurrently.

2 exclusion of hospitalisation due to childbirth

In order to prevent confusion, it should be specified that admissions due to childbearing should not be reported.

3 the reference period

Because of the low prevalence rate of hospitalisation, a reference period of one year is preferred (Swinkels, 1996). Underreporting resulting from memory effects is probably minor, as people forget hospitalisations less often than visits to the GP or the dentist due to the more serious nature of the complaint.

When the respondents are asked whether they have been hospitalised during the past year, the respondents may refer to the past 365 days or to the past calendar year. When an interview takes place on 16 February 1997, for instance, respondents may refer to the period since 16 February 1996, or to the calendar year 1996. Similarly, respondents may refer to dissimilar periods of time when the question hints at the past 12 months. In order to clarify the exact period of time that is intended, Swinkels (1996) advised to include the date by adding the statement 'so since (date

4 In patient care: differences between questions

In total 26 questions on hospitalisation have been examined. The wording of these questions is reported in Annex 5.1

1 definition of hospitalisation

Half of the questionnaires (13) specify that stays in hospital overnight or longer or, in other words, visits as an in patient or hospital admissions are intended (D01, D03, D04, D05, D06, E01, FIN08, F07, NL01, UK01, UK05, UK10 and N01). The other questionnaires (11) use the term hospitalisation without further specification (B01, FIN01, FIN04, FIN05, F03, I01, I02, L01, P01, S01 and CH01). The Portuguese questionnaire (P01), for instance, examines how many days the respondents was in a hospital or a clinic in the two weeks prior to the interview. Probably, respondents who visited a hospital, but did not stay overnight also answer positively. As a result,

hospitalisation figures based on this question will be much higher. A British questionnaire (UK03) examines whether respondents are hospitalised 'either overnight or as a day patient', and one of the French studies (F01) explains that not only overnight stays, but also stays of at least 2 days while the respondent returns home at night should be reported. Like the Portuguese study, hospitalisation figures based on these questions are higher.

Respondents may not always know which kinds of hospitals and clinics are meant, and therefore some questions include more detailed information. The Norwegian study (N01), for instance, points that admissions to hospitals and/or care institutions should be reported, and the Swiss (CH01) and one of the Finnish (FIN08) studies indicate that visits to rehabilitation centres, spas and sanatoria should be excluded.

2 the context of the question

The majority of the questionnaires (24) include specific questions on in patient care. Only two questionnaires (D01 and D06) also inquire about out patient care.

3 exclusion of hospitalisation due to childbirth

Only 5 questions stress that admissions due to childbirth should not be reported (B01, I01, I02, NL01 and UK05). The other 21 questions do not include this specification. Figures on hospitalisation based on the latter questions may be higher compared to the figures based on questions that include this specification.

4 the reference period

All questions on hospitalisation refer to a specific time period. Most questions (18) refer to the past year or past 12 months. The other questions refer to the past 6 months (FIN08, F01), 3 months (F03, I01, S01), 1 month (UK03), 4 weeks (D01) or 2 weeks (P01).

Ten questions specify the exact period by adding 'since(date)' (B01, E01, FIN05, FIN08, L01, NL01, S01, UK01, UK05 and UK10). The other 16 questions refer to the past months or weeks without indicating the dates.

5 number of times

More than half of the questionnaires (14) examine how many times the respondent has been

hospitalised during the reference period. Twelve questions use open ended answer categories (B01, D03, D04, E01, F03, I01, I02, NL01, S01, UK01, UK05 and N01), and two questions use precoded answer categories (F01 and CH01).

6 number of days/nights

Nearly all questionnaires (23) examine the number of days (or nights) spent in hospital. They inquire after:

- the total number of days during the reference period (13 studies: D05, D06, FIN01, FIN04, FIN05, FIN08, F07, I02, L01, P01, S01, N01 and CH01),
- the number of days for each stay separately (5: D03, D04, NL01, UK01 and UK05), or
- the number of days of the last stay (4: B01, D01, E01 and F01).

The Italian Health Interview Survey (I01) examines both the total number of days in the reference period and the number of days of the last time. Most questions refer to the number of nights, which may lead to different results than questions that examine the number of days.

5 In patient care: tentative conclusions on the comparability

The large majority of the questions refer to in patient care solely, and most questions examine hospitalisation during the past year. Still, the comparability is limited. Some questions refer to a shorter period of time, which makes it difficult to compare hospitalisation figures.

The definition of hospitalisation probably has the largest influence on the comparability of the hospitalisation figures. It is recommended that the question should state that only visits as an in patient (and no day visits) have to be recorded, and that women should not report hospital visits due to childbirth. In addition, it is advised to clarify which hospitals are intended and which visits should not be reported, like visits to sanatoria.

6 In patient care: the comparability of derived measures

Number of times

In order to gather information on the number of hospitalisations, it is advised to examine how often the respondent was hospitalised during the past year (the preferred reference period). COVERAGE OF HEALTH TOPICS BY SURVEYS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

Number of days

Whereas the number of days is one of the indicators that is used to quantify hospitalisation, most

questions refer to the number of *nights*. Reference to the number of nights is preferred, as it

emphasises that in patient visits rather than day visits have to be recorded. Moreover, it probably

leads to more reliable estimates, as the number of nights is less ambiguous than the number of days.

When respondents are asked for the number of days they have been hospitalised, they may include

both the first and the last day, they may include one of these days, or they may report only the days

in-between.

Finally, recommendations should be developed, that clarify whether the total number of nights the

respondent was hospitalised should be counted, or the number of nights for each visit separately, or

only with regard to the last visit. The number of nights for each visit separately is preferred, as this

yields the most detailed information. Moreover, mistakes in the summation of the number of nights

when respondents have been hospitalised more than once may be eliminated. Only if respondents are

hospitalised very often, they should be asked for the total number of nights.

5.8 Self perceived health

1 Self perceived health: recommended question

Recommended question (WHO (1996) page 52)

How is your health in general?

- very good
- good
- fair
- bad
- very bad

2 Self perceived health: points for attention

1 reference period

It is recommended to refer to 'health in general' rather than 'present state of health' as it is not

intended to measure temporary disabilities.

C:\USR\SANDRINE\MDS\9035EN.DOC 21/05/2001

44

2 number and type of answer categories

Obviously, differences in the number and wording of the answer categories may lead to different results. Thus, the number, the wording and the order should be comparable.

3 comparison with 'people of the respondent's own age'

The WHO/CBS publication (1996) discourages this addition, as this information does not provide the possibility to monitor progress of the average health status in the population. This question rather provides information on the health status in comparison to the average state of health.

3 Self perceived health: differences between questions

37 Questionnaires include this topic. Two surveys (DK01 and UK09) include two questions: one in a face to face questionnaire and one in a self-administered questionnaire. As a result, 39 questions have been examined. Annex 5.1 presents the wording of these questions.

1 reference period

Most questions (25) refer to 'health in general', although the word 'general' is not always specified. Two questions examine the state of health in the past year or the past 12 months (E01 and UK01). The other questions refer to the present state of health or current health status (12 surveys: D03, D04, D06, DK01 (face to face questionnaire), FIN01, FIN04, FIN05, FIN08, FIN10, FIN12, F01 and CH01).

2 number and type of answer categories

- 15 Questions use 5 answer categories that are comparable with the recommendation.
- 18 Questions also include 5 answer categories, but the wording of these categories does not correspond with the recommendation. Of these 18:
- 6 questions include 2 positive answers, 1 average answer and 2 negative answer categories (A05, FIN01, FIN05, FIN08, FIN10 and FIN12),
- 6 questions include 3 positive and 2 negative answers (D03, D04, D05, D06, I01 and IS01),
- 3 questions use 3 positive, 1 average and 1 negative answers (DK01 (self

administered part), E02 and UK09 (self administered part)),

- the 2 Dutch questions have 2 positive, 2 average and 1 negative answer possibility (NL01 and NL02), and
- 1 Italian question (IO2) does not specify the answer categories; respondents are asked to assess their health on a scale from 1 to 5 (labelled: bottom score and top score).

In addition, three questions have 4 answer categories:

- including 2 positive and 2 negative answers (F06 and F08), or
- 2 positive, 1 average and 1 negative answer category (UK03).

One question (UK01) includes 3 answer possibilities: 1 positive, 1 average and 1 negative answer. Finally, two questions use rating scales ranging from 0 to 10 (F03) and from 0 to 100 (UK04). Obviously, questions that have different numbers of answer possibilities cannot be compared. Even if this number is similar, small deviations in the wording of the answers can lead to different results.

3 comparison with 'people of the respondent's own age'

Some questions include this addition (5 questions: A05, F01, F06, F08 and UK03).

4 additional questions

Besides the recommended questions referred to above, a number of questionnaires gather additional information. Some questionnaires inquire about a comparison of the present state of health with the health status last year (B01, DK01, E02, UK09 and N01) or 5 years ago (D05). Three questionnaires ask to rate the present health status on a scale (D06, NL01 and UK01), and two of these questionnaires also ask to rate the state of health in the past (one year ago (D06) or 5 years ago (NL01)). The Swedish questionnaire includes a question on a comparison of the respondents' health status with that of people of the same age (S01), and the Swiss questionnaire inquires whether the present state of health differs from the general state (CH01).

4 Self perceived health: tentative conclusions on the comparability

Ten questions correspond with the recommendation of the WHO/CBS, namely A01, B01, L01, P01, S01, UK02, UK05, UK09, UK10 and N01. The other questions can be made international comparable:

- by referring to the general state of health instead of the current state,

- by adjusting the wording and eventually the number and the order of the answer categories, and
- by skipping the phrase 'compared with people of your age'.

The WHO 'survey of surveys' shows large differences between 11 countries in the proportions of people with a (very) good state of health, fair/average health status, and a (very) bad/poor health status. Part of these intercountry differences can be explained by differences in question wording and/or answer categories (WHO, 1997b).

5.9 Out patient care: general practitioner

1 Out patient care: related indicators

Questions on out-patient care cover visits to general practitioners (GPs), specialists, dentists, physiotherapists, alternative practitioners like homeopaths etc. Also out patient visits to hospitals are included. Of these different types of out patient care, visits to the GP are included most frequently in health interview surveys, and therefore we compare this topic. An indicator on GP consultations that may be used for international comparisons is the frequency of the consultations.

2 Out patient care GP: provisional question

Provisional question (based on Swinkels, 1996, PHARE seminar on Health Interview Surveys)					
Introduction The following questions concern contacts with your GP. They relate to visits during surgery hours and house-calls, but also to telephone calls for other reasons than to make an appointment.					
Basic questions					
How often have you consulted your GP during the past 2 weeks ending yesterday, since					
date)?					
$\underline{\qquad}$ times \rightarrow go to question $\underline{3}$					
not one single time					
Can you tell when you consulted your GP for the last time?					
on19 (date) or weeks/months/years ago					
never					
If last consultation ≤ 2 months ago \rightarrow go to question $\underline{3}$					

<u>3</u> How often have you consulted your GP during the past 2 months, since (date)? _

3 Out patient care GP: points for attention

1 definition of a consultation

In order to clarify which contacts with the GP should be reported, it is necessary to indicate which contacts should be included and which contacts should be excluded. Home visits and consultations by telephone may be included, while contacts to make an appointment may be excluded. Moreover, it may be specified whether consultations on behalf of other people should be reported or not.

2 reference period

Generally questions on consultations with a GP are retrospective, and reference periods may vary. Studies in the Netherlands have shown that when the reference period is 14 days it is unlikely that respondents report consultations wrongly. However, memory effects bias the results when longer reference periods are used (Swinkels, 1996).

Swinkels (1996) also advises to specify the reference period in order to prevent confusion by adding the starting date, e.g. 'during the past 2 weeks, so since'. Similarly, the final date can be included: for example 'during the past 2 weeks ending yesterday'.

3 date of last consultation

In order to estimate the proportion of people who consult a GP during one year, respondents who did not report a consultation with the family doctor during the reference period should be asked after the date of their last consultation (Swinkels, 1996). Consequently, it is possible to calculate how long ago the consultation took place. Together with the information on the proportion of people who consulted a GP during the reference period, it can be estimated how many people consulted a doctor during one year.

4 Out patient care GP: differences between questions

The wording of questions that are included in 26 questionnaires has been examined. An overview of these questions is presented in Annex 5.1.

1 context

The majority of the questions (12) inquire after visits to 'a doctor'. Thus, respondents may report not only visits to GPs (or family doctors), but also visits to specialists and company doctors. 7 Questionnaires (A01, D03, D04, D05, D06, DK01 and L01) inquire after contacts with different types of doctors separately. 5 Studies (B01, NL01, NL02, UK02 and UK03) focus on consultations with GPs solely and 2 studies (UK05 and CH01) include two questions: one on doctors in general and one specifically on GPs.

2 number of consultations

Of the 26 studies, only one (UK02) does not inquire after the number of consultations. Contrary to the other studies, one study (L01) uses precoded answers. Most studies inquire after the number of consultations with the GP, and some studies inquire after the total number of contacts with different types of doctors.

3 definition of consultation

7 Studies (D06, FIN01, FIN04, F06, L01, UK03 and N01) do not indicate which contacts should be reported and which contacts should not be reported. 10 Questionnaires emphasise that consultations by telephone should be included. In contrast, one questionnaire (FIN08) indicates that telephone contacts should be excluded. 11 Studies specify that home visits should be included, and a similar number of studies indicate that consultations on behalf of others should be excluded. Finally, the two Dutch studies (NL01 and NL02) report that visits to locums should be recorded.

4 reference period

The reference periods vary widely: from 2 weeks (5 studies: E01, UK01, UK05, UK06 and UK10) to 12 months (10 studies: A01, D05, D06, FIN01, FIN04, F06, L01, UK02, N01 and CH01). The other 11 studies refer to periods of 4 weeks, or of 1, 2, 3 or 6 months.

10 Questions (B01, FIN08, NL01, NL02, S01, UK01, UK02, UK05, UK06 and UK10) clarify which period is referred to by adding exact dates.

5 date of last consultation

Ten studies (B01, D03, D04, D05, E01, NL01, NL02, UK10, N01 and CH01) ask respondents

who did not report a consultation during the reference period when the last consultation took place. Also these questions vary: whereas most questions are open ended, 3 questions use precoded answer categories, and while 6 questions refer to contacts with the GP, 4 questions inquire after the date of the last contact for different types of doctors simultaneously.

5 Out patient care GP: tentative conclusions on the comparability

The comparability of the questions on consultations with GPs is limited for a number of reasons. Firstly, some questions examine contacts with a variety of doctors, which leads to higher estimates of the number of consultations than questions that refer specifically to contacts with GPs. Secondly, questions that do not specify the type of consultations that should be reported probably give different estimates than questions that indicate which contacts should be included and which contacts should be excluded. Thirdly, the reference periods are not comparable. The longer the reference periods, the larger the effects of memory bias, and the higher the chance on underreporting. Fourthly, a minority of the studies inquire after the date of the last consultation, if respondents did not report a consultation during the reference period. This information contributes to a more accurate estimation of the number of consultations during one year. However, also these questions show large variations. Therefore, it is advised to develop questions that:

- refer specifically to contacts with GPs, and eventually to contacts with other kinds of doctors separately,
- specify that home visits and consultations by telephone should be included, (the number of consultations made on behalf of other persons may be asked separately),
- have a short reference period, preferably of 2 weeks, and
- inquire after the date of the last consultation, if respondents did not consult a GP during the reference period, preferably by means of an open ended question.

6 Conclusions and recommendations

The present project has been initiated in order to collect information on how health and health related topics are measured by means of national population surveys in 18 European countries (the 15 Member States of the EU and Norway, Iceland and Switzerland). The project intends to facilitate the production of harmonised statistics by improving the comparability of health related data and to explore the possibilities for adequate collection of data from these national surveys by Eurostat. Chapter 1.1 describes the four specific goals of the project:

- 1 an overview of recent national health interview surveys and other surveys with a substantial health component in the 18 countries mentioned above,
- 2 an inventory of future plans for such surveys,
- 3 an overview of the coverage of health related areas and topics by these surveys, and
- 4 an examination of the comparability of national questions included in recent surveys.

The main results in the light of these four aims are described in section 6.1. Next, section 6.2 reports recommendations for future actions.

6.1 Interpretation of the results

Based on the inventory of recent national health interview surveys and other health-related surveys (the first aim), it can be concluded that health interview surveys are executed regularly in most countries: periodic health interview surveys are reported in 14 of the 18 countries. Especially in Finland, France and the UK many health related surveys have been executed recently. Also in Austria, Germany, Denmark, the Netherlands and Norway periodic national health interview surveys as well as non-recurrent health surveys and surveys that focus on a specific health theme like alcohol consumption have been performed. In Italy, Sweden and Switzerland periodic health interview surveys have been executed regularly and in Portugal and Spain such surveys have been repeated at irregular intervals. In Belgium the first national health interview survey is executed in 1997, and subsequently this survey will be repeated regularly.

In contrast to the countries above, no periodic health interview surveys have been reported in Greece, Ireland, Luxembourg and Iceland. However, in these countries (except Greece) multipurpose surveys that cover health, and surveys on one specific health theme have been executed.

It seems that recently more national health and health-related surveys have been executed than ever before. If this trend continues, there may be even more health surveys in the future. Generally, many important surveys are periodic, implying that these will be repeated. Moreover, the inventory of future plans for national health related surveys (the second aim) shows that also new health surveys are being planned. To give some examples: in Finland preparations are being made for a study on the state of health of the Finns in the year 2000 (Terveys 2000) that will be based on a sample of about 10,000 respondents; in France a large-scale disability survey is being planned in 1997 in order to interview about 20,000 disabled people; and in Ireland a national lifestyle survey starts in 1997 and this study will regularly cover health related questions from 1998 onwards.

In conclusion, given the large number of national health interview surveys and other health related surveys in the recent past and in the future, there are numerous health data available on the national level. However, two comments should be made. Firstly, the reported health data are by no means available every year. In contrast to a small number of health surveys that are executed continuously or replicated every year, most surveys are repeated at 2 to 10 yearly intervals. In addition, many surveys are executed only once. Secondly, the data collection methods vary between the surveys. To give some examples: the type of survey (health interview surveys, disability surveys, multi purpose surveys etc.), the sample frames, the type of interviews (face to face, self administered and/or telephone interviews), the numbers of people that are approached and the response percentages differ (see Table 3.2). These differences also affect the comparability of the data.

The third aim focuses on the coverage of health and health related topics that are relevant for the programme on health monitoring and for other programmes in the field of public health: which topics are frequently covered by health related surveys and which topics are hardly covered? First, topics that are apparent in 10 action programmes in the field of public health and that may be measured by means of health interview surveys have been listed (see Annex 2.3). Next, the contents of 52 questionnaires originating from 18 European countries have been investigated.

This examination shows that especially topics that in the area of 'Health status' are included in the questionnaires like self-perceived health, chronic conditions, physical disability and activity limitations. Also topics on 'Health protection', or in other words medical consumption, are frequently covered e.g. hospitalisation (inpatient care), consultations with the GP (outpatient care) and medicine

use. Of the topics concerning 'Lifestyle and health habits' questions on smoking and drinking habits and on physical activities are included most often. However, the area of 'Lifestyle and health habits' also incorporates many topics that are hardly included in health surveys, like topics on:

- diet, e.g. behaviour regarding food hygiene,
- sex life,
- knowledge on healthy lifestyles,
- attitudes regarding health promotion,
- awareness of health education campaigns,
- risk taking behaviour,
- personal hygiene (for deprived groups),
- risk factors for cancer, and
- exposure to ultraviolet radiation.

In addition, this inventory allows to establish to which extent these health related surveys meet the information needs of the 10 programmes in the field of public health, that are described in Chapter 2. The more general and horizontal programmes cover a greater variety of themes than the more specific and vertical programmes, that go into a full consideration of one health problem. On the whole, the information needs of the general programmes are more often met than the needs of the more specific programmes. Thus, the areas of the Community action programmes on health monitoring (COM (95) 449 final), and on health promotion, information, education and training (COM (94) 202 final), the Health for All survey indicators (WHO, 1996), and the survey indicators that have been adopted by the High Level Committee on Health (Ministry of Health, Denmark, 1994) are more often included in the health related questionnaires than the topics of the Community action programmes on cancer (COM (94) 83 final), on the prevention of drug dependence (COM (94) 223 final), on the prevention of AIDS and certain other communicable diseases (Decision No 647/96/EC), on injury prevention (COM (97) 178 final), on pollution-related diseases (COM (97) 266 final), and the Third Community action programme to assist disabled people (Helios II).

In order to explore the possibilities for international comparison of data from these national surveys, the comparability of the topics that are included most frequently has been studied (the fourth aim). Table 6.1 presents an overview of the comparability with regard to the wording of the questions and regarding the measures that can be derived from these questions.

Table 6.1
The comparability of questions for 10 frequently measured topics and the comparability of derived measures

questions	compar.1	derived measures	compar.1
chronic conditions: disease specific	-	prevalence of specific diseases	+
		overall prevalence of chronic conditions	+
		co-morbidity	-
chronic conditions: open ended	+	prevalence of specific diseases	+
		overall prevalence of chronic conditions	+
		co-morbidity	+
self perceived health	+		
height and weight	++	body mass index	++
missing teeth	-	average number of missing teeth	2
toothless persons	-	% of toothless persons	+
dental prosthesis	-	% of people with dental prosthesis	+
present and former smoking		% of daily smokers	+
		% of occasional smokers	-
		% of ex-smokers	+
		% of never smokers	+
		% of heavy smokers	+
in patient care: hospitalisation	-	number of hospitalisations	-
		number of hospitalised days	_
out patient care: GP consultations	-	frequency of GP consultations	-

¹ comparability: -- not comparable; - comparability is limited; + partly comparable; ++ comparable

This table shows that the comparability of disease specific questions on *chronic conditions* is limited. Both the wording of the questions and the number and types of diseases that are included in the checklists appear to differ. Despite these differences, the prevalence of well-known diseases that have a low fatality and that are included in most checklists may be comparable, if the wording of the questions is comparable. Similarly, the overall prevalence of chronic conditions can be calculated for a short common list of diseases, and the comparability of this measure depends mainly on the formulation of the questions. The comparability of co-morbidity depends primarily on the comparability of the checklists.

Generally, the wording of the open ended questions on chronic conditions appears to be better comparable than the formulation of the disease-specific questions, and as a result the comparability of the overall prevalence of chronic conditions is better comparable too. The prevalence of specific diseases based on open-ended questions is comparable for diseases that are well-known and that have a low fatality. The comparability of co-morbidity depends mainly on the extent to which

² cannot be calculated

respondents are encouraged to mention more than one disease.

The questions on *self perceived health* are partly comparable. Many questions correspond with the recommended question of the WHO/CBS (WHO, 1996). The other questions differ in the wording of the questions and/or in the formulation of the answers.

Questions on adult body height and weight show small differences, and consequently the derived measure, body mass index, is comparable.

With regard to indicators of dental health, the number of missing teeth, the proportion of toothless persons and the proportion of people who have a dental prosthesis have been examined. Most questions on the number of missing teeth have precoded answer categories, and unfortunately these answers do not allow to calculate the average number of missing teeth. The questions regarding the two other indicators on dental health vary widely from one survey to another. Yet, most questions allow to calculate the proportion of toothless persons or the proportion of people who have a dental prosthesis, and these figures are (partly) comparable, despite the different question wordings.

Similarly, the questions on *present and former smoking* differ largely. However, almost all questions that refer to the consumption of cigarettes allow to calculate the proportions of daily cigarette smokers, occasional smokers, heavy smokers, former smokers and ex-smokers. Generally, the comparability of these figures is higher than the comparability of the questions, on which these figures are based. Only the comparability of occasional smokers is limited, as the formulation and interpretation of 'occasional' differs between the surveys.

Two main reasons limit the comparability of the questions on *in patient care* or hospitalisation. Firstly, many questions do not clarify which hospitalisations should be reported and which admissions should not be included, and secondly, the reference periods differ between the questions. These deviations influence the comparability of the two derived measures: the number of hospitalisations and the number of hospitalised days.

With regard to *out patient care*, questions on consultations with the general practitioner have been examined. The comparability of these questions is limited for similar reasons as mentioned above: firstly, the questions vary in the extent in which they elucidate which type of contacts with the GP should be included and which consultations should be excluded, and secondly, the reference periods vary widely. In addition, some questions refer to 'doctors' in general, which implies that respondents may also include contacts with other doctors than the GP like specialists.

This overview of comparisons demonstrates that one of the basic prerequisites for international comparability is the existence of comparable definitions. The questions on consultations with the GP, for instance, show that the data of different surveys are not comparable, because of differences in health care systems and because of differences in the interpretation of consultations. On the other hand, when definitions are clear and unambiguous, which is the case for 'different questions may lead to comparable results.

In order to prevent confusion, definitions should be as clear as possible. The interpretation and translation of 'occasional (cigarette) smokers', for instance, varies between countries. As a result, the comparison of occasional smokers is less reliable than the comparison of daily smokers. Therefore, it is recommended to clarify the term 'occasional' by including the definition e.g. 'not every day' in the question.

6.2 Recommendations for future actions

In order to improve the comparability of health related data, it is recommended to:

- 1 develop guidelines for recommended questions,
- 2 include these recommended questions in surveys,
- 3 draw up guidelines for the methodology of health surveys, and
- 4 implement these harmonised methods.

Obviously, harmonisation of questions and surveys, or in other words input harmonisation, is the key to internationally comparable results. However, as long as input harmonisation is not fully accomplished, output harmonisation should be pursued for topics for which no comparable questions are available yet. The present inventory shows that it is possible to make comparisons of survey data in different countries, as long as the differences between the questions and the surveys are taken into account.

In order to encourage output harmonisation, it is advised to:

- 1 study the effects of differences between questions on the results,
- 2 continue the present inventory of health interview surveys and other health related surveys,
- 3 collect the data of these surveys, and
- 4 compare these data, taking into account the possible deviations between the surveys and questions.

These different aspects of harmonisation are illustrated below.

Input harmonisation

In order to encourage input harmonisation, it is recommended to continue the development of recommended questions, that has been initiated by the WHO/Euro and Statistics Netherlands (1996) and that will be continued and extended in the WHO EUROHIS Project titled 'Developing common methods and instruments for health interview surveys in Europe' within the BIOMED 2 Programme, and that may be supplemented with other efforts.

The following aspects should be considered in the development of harmonised instruments. First, apparently similar questions may be interpreted differently in different countries. As mentioned before, the explication of the expression 'occasional' varies between countries. Bias as a result of interpretation differences can be reduced by incorporating as many explicit definitions as possible. Next, recommended questions should be translated both forward and backward. Moreover, it is advised to test the validity and reliability of the questions in each country and in each language separately, e.g. by comparing the results of survey data with registration data, if possible. In addition, the effects of the position of the question in the questionnaire should be taken into account. Next, when recommended questions are available, they should be included in as many surveys as possible. The present inventory shows that surveys that have been developed recently include more recommended questions than older surveys. Especially the Belgian and the Portuguese health interview surveys appear to follow many (but not all) recommendations. The usefulness of the recommendations for the Belgian survey has been discussed at the Fourth consultation to develop common methods and instruments for health interview surveys in Europe of the WHO (Tafforeau and Van Oyen, 1997). In general, this development stimulates further harmonisation: the more surveys include these recommendations, the more inviting it is for other surveys to incorporate these internationally comparable questions too.

However, particularly countries that have a long history of health interview surveys encounter the disadvantages of harmonisation. Especially discontinuity in trends as a result of the difference between the recommended and the traditional question is problematic. One possibility to overcome this drawback is to include both the traditional (national) question and the recommended (international) question in different subsamples of one survey, and to examine the differences in the results that may be caused by these different questions.

In order to have results that are comparable between countries, not only the questions, but also the survey methods should be harmonised. The comparability of national health interview surveys can be enlarged by drawing up and implementing guidelines regarding the frequency of these surveys, the sample frame, the mode of data collection etc. These methodological aspects have been elaborated in the WHO/CBS publication (1996).

Output harmonisation

The inventory shows that for some topics, in spite of the different wordings used, survey data are comparable. In some cases, e.g. the percentage of daily smokers, the derived measures may be even better comparable than the questions. However, it should be taken into account that if health related questions differ, a cross-national comparison of the resulting data may reflect:

- 1 real national differences,
- 2 national differences in the wording of questions and answers, and/or
- 3 national differences in the interpretation of the questions.

To give an example: cross-national differences in the proportion of occasional smokers derived from different national health surveys may not only reflect real national differences in the proportion of occasional smokers, but also differences in the wording of the questions (e.g. referring to smoking in general or to cigarettes only) and/or differences in the interpretation of the expression 'occasional'. Especially distinctions as a result of differences in interpretation are difficult to assess. The effect of differences in question wording on the resulting data may be examined by comparing findings derived from different questions in one country.

Harmonisation may be supported by a *continuous* inventory of health interview surveys and other health related surveys. A continuous or yearly inventory allows to update the developments in health surveys and to follow the comparability of questions. It is recommended to collect information on the methodology and the questionnaires of each survey, and to store this information in one database, that may function as a reference tool. If this information would be available on a large scale in a computerised format, people who are involved in health related surveys may explore details of the included surveys and examine the formulation of the questions on particular topics.

The National Surveys Guide of the British Health Education Authority (HEA) sets a good example. This resource was developed as a reference tool of the British health and lifestyles surveys to assist

researchers and planners in identifying what information exists and to assist in day-to-day problems of questionnaire content and design. Initially developed as a paper-based document, the Guide has been converted to a CD-ROM version in 1996 in order to serve more users. This CD-ROM allows to search via two main routes: users can look for particular surveys or for particular topics (Health Education Authority, 1996).

If such a database covering European health surveys would be available, people who are involved in the development of questionnaires, may use this database to examine which questions are used in other health surveys. This is particularly interesting for topics for which no recommended instruments are available yet.

Similarly, the findings of the national surveys can be collected and stored in a database. These figures can be used to examine the availability of national health data, and the comparability of these data derived from different health surveys.

Subject to approval by the TF at its meeting of 19/11/97, the EC Task Force on 'Health and health-related survey data' can support the harmonisation of health related survey data by:

- cooperating in the development of recommended questions,
- including these recommended questions in health surveys,
- developing international guidelines for survey methods,
- and applying these guidelines,
- finding solutions for drawbacks of these harmonisation activities,
- contributing to the development of a continuous inventory of health related surveys, and
- taking part in the provision of survey data for an international health database.

References

Health programmes

Commission of the European Communities (1993). *Commission communication on the framework for action in the field of public health*. COM(93) 559 final, Brussels.

Commission of the European Communities (1994). Communication from the Commission and Proposal for a European Parliament and Council decision adopting a programme of Community action on health promotion, information, education and training within the framework for action in the field of public health. COM(94) 202 final, Brussels. (And Decision No 645/96/EC).

Commission of the European Communities (1995). *Communication from the Commission concerning a Community action programme on health monitoring in the context of the framework for action in the field of public health.* COM(95) 449 final, Brussels. (And Decision No 1400/97/EC).

Commission of the European Communities (1996). Annex II. Non-exhaustive list of areas in which health indicators may be established. (Community action on health monitoring). *Official Journal of the European Communities*, No C 220, p. 42-43.

Commission of the European Communities (1994). *Communication from the Commission concerning the fight against cancer in the context of the framework for action in the field of public health.* COM(94) 83 final, Brussels. (And Decision No 646/96/EC).

Commission of the European Communities (1994). *Community action in the field of drug dependence*. COM(94) 223 final, Brussels. (And Decision No 102/97/EC).

Commission of the European Communities (1994). *Communication of the Commission concerning a Community action programme on the prevention of AIDS and other communicable diseases in the context of the framework for action in the field of public health*. CEC/V/F/1/LUX/14-3/94, Rev. 8, Luxembourg. (And Decision No 647/96/EC).

Commission of the European Communities (1997). *Communication from the Commission concerning a Community action programme on injury prevention in the context of the framework for action in the field of public health.* COM(97) 178 final, Brussels.

Commission of the European Communities (1997). Communication from the Commission concerning a programme of Community action on pollution-related diseases in the context of the framework for action in the field of public health. COM(97) 266 final, Brussels.

Commission of the European Communities (1997). *Communication from the Commission concerning a programme of Community action on rare diseases within the framework for action in the field of public health.* COM(97) 225 final, Brussels.

Ministry of Health, Denmark (1994). Recommendations to the High-level Committee on Health from the Working Party on Community health data and indicators. Ministry of Health, Denmark.

WHO (1996). *Towards international harmonisation of methods and instruments*. WHO Regional Publications, European Series No. 58, Copenhagen.

Publications received from participating institutes

A Österreichisches Statistisches Zentralamt

Austrian Central Statistical Office, Department on Social Statistics (1996). *The Austrian Microcensus in the international context* (paper, 17 pages).

Österreichisches Statistisches Zentralamt (1989). Körperlich beeinträchtigte Personen. Ergebnisse des Mikrozensus Dezember 1986. Beiträge zur Österreichischen Statistik, Heft 936. Österreichische Staatsdruckerei, Wien.

Ludwig Boltzmann-Institut für Suchtforschung

Uhl, A, and A. Springer (1996). Studie über den Konsum von Alkohol und psychoaktiven Stoffen in Österreich unter Berücksichtigung problematischer Gebrauchsmuster. Repräsentativerhebung 1993/94. Bundesministerium für Gesundheit und Konsumentenschutz, Wien.

B Instituut voor Hygiene en Epidemiologie

Institut d'Hygiène et d'Epidémiologie, Université de Liège, Institut National de Statistique (1996). *Vers une enquête de santé par interview en Belgique. Rapport du pré test.* IHE/EPISERIE N° 7.

Instituut voor Hygiëne en Epidemiologie, Université de Liège, Nationaal Instituut voor de Statistiek (1996). *Naar* een gezondheidsenquete door middel van interview in België. Rapport van de pilootstudie. IHE/EPISERIE N° 7.

D Statistisches Bundesamt

Hein, B. (1996). Fragen zur Gesundheit. Ergebnis des Mikrozensus 1995. StBA Wirtschaft und Statistik, 10, 624-632.

Hein, B. (1994). Fragen zur Gesundheit. Ergebnis des Mikrozensus 1992. Wirtschaft und Statistik, 7, 549-556.

Statistisches Bundesamt (1996). Schwerbehinderte 1995. Sozialleistungen. Fachserie 13. Reihe 5.1. Metzler-Poeschel, Stuttgart.

Hein, B. (1996). Schwerbehinderte 1995. StBA Wirtschaft und Statistik, 12, 792-797.

IDIS, Institut für Dokumenatation und Information Sozialmedizin und Öffentliches Gesundheitswesen

Bardehle, D. and R. Annuß (1996). Gesundheitsberichterstattung. Indikatoren zum Gesundheitszustand der Bevölkerung Nordrhein-Westfalens. Themenfeld 3 des Indikatorensatzes für den Gesundheitsrahmenbericht der Band 8. Landesinstitut für den Öffentlichen Gesundheitsdienst des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen, Bielefeld.

Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Leitenden Medizinalbeamtinnen und Medizinalbeamten der Länder (AGLMB) (1996). *Indikatorensatz für die Gesundheitsberichterstattung der Länder.* Zweite, überarbeitete Fassung.

Epidemiologische Forschung Berlin

Kirschner, W. and T. Elkeles (1996?). *Präventionsanalyse. Gesundheitsrisiken, Gesundheitsverhalten und ver Maßnahmen der Bevölkerung Sachsen-Anhalts im Jahr 1995.* Ministerium für Arbeit, Soziales und Gesundheit des Landes Sachsen-Anhalt, Magdeburg.

Kirschner, W. and M. Radoschewski (1993). *Gesundheits- und Sozialsurvey Berlin. Diskussionspapier 17*. Senatsverwaltung für Gesundheit, Berlin.

Robert Koch Institut

Hoffmeister, H., G.B.M. Mensink, H. Stolzenberg, J. Hoeltz, H. Kreuter, U. Laaser, E. Nüssel, K.-D. Hülleman and J.v. Troschke (1996). Reduction of Coronary Heart Disease Risk Factors in the German Cardiovascular Prevention Study. *Preventive Medecine*, 25, 135-145.

Infratest

Infratest Epidemiologie und Gesundheitsforschung (1996). Arbeitsprogramm 1994-1996. Forschung im Gesundheitswesen und Dienstleistungen für Gesundheitsforschung. Infratest, München.

Hoeltz, J. and P. Potthoff (1996). *Planung und Durchführung von Kohortstudien*. Paper presented at Workshop des BiB, 1-3 October 1996, Bingen.

DK DICE Danish Institute for Clinical Epidemiology

Rasmussen, N.K. (1984). Nordiske Helbreds- & Sygeligheds-undersøgelser. Nordisk Ministerråd, Olso. DIKE,

Kjøller, M., N.K. Rasmussen, L. Keiding, H.C. Petersen and G.A. Nielsen (1995). *Sundhed og sygelighed i Danmark 1994 - og udviklingen siden 1987*. DIKE, København. (3 x)

Rasmussen, N.K., M.V. Groth, S.R. Bredkjær, M. Madsen and F. Kamper-Jørgensen (1988). Sundhed & sygelighed i Danmark 198. En rapport fra Dikes undersøgelse. DIKE, København.

Danish Institute for Clinical Epidemiology (1996). *Questionnaire for The Health Interview Survey 1994 with response-frequencies*. DICE, Copenhagen.

E Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo

Ministerio de Justicia e Interior. Delegación del Gobierno para el Plan Nacional sobre Drogas (1995). *Encuesta sobre drogas a la población escolar. 1994*. Ministerio de Justicia e Interior, Madrid.

Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo (1989). *Encuesta nacional de salud*. Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo, Madrid.

Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo (1996). *Encuesta nacional de salud de España 1995*. Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo, Madrid.

Regidor, E., C. Rodríguez and J.L. Gutiérrez-Fisac (1995). *Indicadores de Salud. Tercera evaluación en España del programma regional europeo Salud para todos.* Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo, Madrid.

INE Instituto Nacional de Estadistica

Alfonsin, E.T. and M.G. Ferruelo (1986?). *Survey on disabilities, impairmants and handicaps (Spain 1986).* (paper, 5 pages).

Rodriguez, P.G. (1988). Sintesis de la encuesta sobre discapacidades, deficiencias y minusvalias. (paper, 23 pages).

Varela, G., O. Moreiras, A. Carbajal and M. Campo (1991). *Household Budget Survey Spain 1990-91. National Study on Nutrition and Food Consumption 1991.* Volume I. Intake of foods, energy and nutrients. Adaptation to recommended intake. Trends in consumption over the last 30 years. Instituto Nacional de Estadistica, Madrid.

Moreiras, O., J. Muñiz, A. Carbajal, M. Campo, G. Varela and F.G. Covián (1991). *Encuesta de Presupuestos Familiares 1990-91. Estudio Nacional de Nutrición y Alimantación 1991*. Tomo II. Relación entre al consumo de alimentos, energía y nutrientes y la mortalidad por enfermedades degenerativas seleccionadas. Instituto Nacional de Estadistica, Madrid.

Instituto Nacional de Estadistica (1992). *Encuesta de Presupuestos Familiares 1990-91. Metodología.* Instituto Nacional de Estadistica, Madrid.

FIN Statistics Finland

Huuhka, M., E. Lahelma, K. Manderbacka, V. Mattila, A. Karisto and O. Rahkonen (1996). *Terveydentila ja sosiaalinen murros. Vuosien 1986 ja 1994 elinolotutkimukset*. Tilastokeskus, Helsinki.

INSEE Institut National de la Statistique et des Etudes Economiques

Mormiche, P. (1990) Enquête sur la santé et les soins médicaux (1991-1992). Présentation de l'enquête. Courrier des Statistiques, 56, Décembre 1990.

INSEE, Lettre d'information sur le projet d'enquête Handicaps-Incapacités-Dépendance.

n° 1, Juillet-Août 95

nº 2, Décembre 95

n° 3, Mai 96

INSEE (1995). Présentation résumée du projet d'Enquête "Handicaps-Incapacités-Dépendance". (paper, 2 Août 1995, 2 pages).

INSEE (1995). The French National Survey of Handicaps, Disabilities and Dependency: An Outline of the Proposed Study. (paper, August 2 1995, 2 pages).

CREDES Centre de Recherche d'Etude et de Documentation en Economie de la Santé

CREDES (1996). Fiches Enquêtes. Présentation des enquêtes et bibliographies. CREDES, Paris. (N.B. 2x).

Bocognano, A. (1992). Méthode et Deroulement de l'Enquête sur la Santé et la Protection sociale mise à jour. CREDES, Paris.

Sermet, C. (1993). Enquête sur la Santé et les Soins Médicaux 1991-1992. Méthodologie. CREDES, Paris.

Ministère du Travail et des Affaires Sociales, SESI, Service des Statistiques, des Etudes et des Systèmes

Baudier, F., C. Dressen, D. Grizeau, M.-P. Janvrin and J. Warszawski (1995). Baromètre Santé 93 94, Résultats de l'enquête périodique sur la santé des Français. Comité français d'éducation pour la santé, Vanves.

Wcislo, M. and B. Blondel (1996). La naissance en France en 1995. Enquête nationale périnatale. SESI-Inforapides, 80, Octobre 1996.

Blondel, B., C. Du Mazaubrun and G. Breart (1996). Enquête nationale périnatale 1995. Rapport de fin d'étude. INSERM U.149.

Guignon, N. (1995). Rougeole, oreillons, rubéole: les campagnes de promotion de la vaccination sont efficaces. SESI-Info-Rapides, 65, Octobre 1995.

Guignon, N. (1996). La couverture vaccinale à 6 ans chez les enfants nés en 1987. Enquête en milieu scolaire année 1992-1993. SESI Documents statistiques, 264, Septembre 1996.

Blayo, C. (1995). L'évolution du recours à lávortement en France depuis 1976. Population, 3, 779-810.

Bozon, M., H. Leridon, B. Riandey et le groupe ACSF (1993). Les comportements sexuels en France: d'un Rapport Populations & Sociétés, 276, 1-4

Giami, A., A. Spira et les groupes ACSF, ACSAG et ACSJ (?). Bilan methodologique des enquestes Françaises sur le comportement sexuel. (paper).

? (1996). Système d'information sur la santé et la consommation de soins des détenus. Note de problématique. (paper, 28 Novembre 1996).

I ISTAT Instituto Nazionale di Statistica

Instituto Nazionale di Statistica (1996). Stili di vita e condizioni di salute. Indagini Multiscopo sulle famiglie. Anni 1993-1994. Instituto Nazionale di Statistica, Roma.

Instituto Nazionale di Statistica (1994). Indagini Multiscopo sulle famiglie. Anni 1987-91. Condizione di salute e ricorso ai servizi sanitari. Instituto Nazionale di Statistica, Roma.

L Direction de la Santé

ILReS (1993). Le tabac dans la société Luxembourgeoise. Résultats et analyse dúne enquête réalisée en 1993. ILReS, Luxembourg. (paper, 3 pages).

NL CBS Statistics Netherlands

Netherlands Central Bureau of Statistics (1992). *Netherlands Health Interview Survey 1981-1991*. SDU Publishers, The Hague.

Netherlands Central Bureau of Statistics and Netherlands Institute for Research on Social Welfare (1990). *Physical disability in the population of the Netherlands 1986/1988.* SDU Publishers, The Hague.

Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek (1996). *De leefsituatie van de Nederlandse bevolking, 1995. Kerncijfers.* Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek, Voorburg/Heerlen.

Baal, M. van (1996). Trendcijfers gezondheidsenquête; medische consumptie, 1981-1995. *Maandbericht Gezondheidsstatistiek*, 15, 5, 4-26.

Swinkels, H. (1995). Trendcijfers gezondheidsenquête; aspecten van (on)gezond gedrag, 1989-1994. *Maandbericht Gezondheidsstatistiek*, 14, 12, 4-17.

Baal, M. van (1996). Trendcijfers gezondheidsenquête; gezondheidsindicatoren 1981-1995. *Maandbericht Gezondheidsstatistiek*, 15, 7, 12-43.

S SCB Statistika Centralbyran 'Statistics Sweden'

Statistics Sweden (1996). Appendix 16. The Swedish Survey of Living Conditions. Design and methods. (part of a report, pages 23-30).

UK ONS Office for National Statistics

parts of a report, named *Living in Britain 1994*, on the General Household Survey:

- * chapter 1.1-1.3, pages 11-12,
- * Appendix D Summary of main topics included in the GHS questionnaires 1971 to 1994, pages 289-300,
- * Previous Volumes in the GHS series, pages 310-311.

Malbon, G., A. Bridgwood, D. Lader and J. Matheson (1996) *Health in England 1995. What people know, what people think, what people do. Summary of key findings.* HMSO, London.

Hansbro, J. A. Bridgwood, A. Morgan and M. Hickman (1997) *Health in England 1996. What people know, what people think, what people do. Summary of key findings.* Stationery Office, London.

Health and Lifestyle Survey

The Health Promotion Research Trust. *The Health and Lifestyle Survey*. (leaflet, 2 x).

The Health Promotion Research Trust. The Health and Lifestyle Survey: seven years on. A Summary. (leaflet, 2 x).

The Health Promotion Research Trust. The Health and Lifestyle Survey: seven years on. A Review. (leaflet, 2 x).

SCPR Social and Community Planning Research

Joint Health Surveys Unit. Social and Community Planning Research, and Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University College London (1996). *Health Survey for England 1994. Summary of key findings.* HMSO, London.

IS Statistics Iceland

English abstract of two chapters of the publication (in Icelandic):

Statistics Iceland and The Social Science Research Institute, University of Iceland (1990). Standard of living and life styles in Iceland.

Other publications

COVERAGE OF HEALTH TOPICS BY SURVEYS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

Council of Europe (1990). Evulation of the use of the international classification of impairments, disabilities and handicaps (ICIDH) in surveys and health-related statistics. Council of Europe, Strasbourg.

Evers, S. (1990). Health for All indicators in health interview surveys. An overview of the coverage of Health for All indicators in population surveys inside the European Region and some selected countries ouside the Region. WHO, Regional Office for Europe, Copenhagen and Netherlands Central Bureau of Statistics, Voorburg/Heerlen.

Evers, S.M.A.A. (1993). Health for All indicators in health interview surveys. Health Policy, 23, 205-218.

Government Statistical Service (1995). Harmonised Questions for Government Social Surveys. HMSO, London.

Health Education Authority (1996). Health and lifestyles. National surveys guide CD-ROM. Health Education Authority, London.

Heliövaara, M., A. Aromaa, T. Klaukka, P. Knekt, M. Joukamaa and O. Impivaara (1993). Reliability and validity of interview data on chronic diseases. The Mini-Finland Health Survey. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 46, 181-191.

INSERM (1987). Inventory of the indicators of consequences of chronic diseases used in the E.E.C. countries. INSERM, Le Vesinet.

Kars-Marshall, C., M. Pollemans and Y. Spronk-Boon (1983). Feeling the nation's pulse. A study of national health interview surveys. Erasmus University Rotterdam, Rotterdam.

Kars-Marshall, C., M. Pollemans and Y. Spronk-Boon (1983). Feeling the nation's pulse. A study of national health interview surveys. Annotated Bibliography. Erasmus University Rotterdam, Rotterdam.

Lahelma, E. (1996). Preparation, carrying out and analysis of health surveys: Finland. Paper presented at Workshop Bundesinstitut für Bevölkerungsforschung, Bingen, Germany, 1-3 October 1996.

Netherlands Central Bureau of Statistics and Erasmus University (1992). International variation in socioeconomic inequalities in self-reported health. A comparison of the Netherlands with other industrialised countries. SDU Publishers, The Hague.

Nordic Medico-Statistical Committee NOMESCO (1994). Health Statistics in the Nordic Countries 1992. NOMESCO, København.

Swinkels, H. (1996). Health interview surveys and the measurement of medical consumption. Paper for PHARE seminar on Health Interview Surveys, 28 May - 6 June 1996, Voorburg, the Netherlands.

Tafforeau, J. and H. Van Oyen (1997). Use of the recommendations of the working group to develop common instruments for health interview surveys for the first national survey in Belgium (1997). Paper presented on the Fourth Consultation to develop common methods and instruments for health interview surveys in Europe, Copenhagen, 26-28 February 1997.

Taylor, M.F. (1994). Ethical considerations in European cross-national research. *International Social Science* Journal, 142, 523-532.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (1994). International Health Data Reference Guide, 1993. DHHS Publication No. (PHS) 94-1007, Hyattsville.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (1996). International Health Data Reference Guide, 1995. DHHS Publication No. (PHS) 96-1007, Hyattsville.

Vogel, J., H. Sauli and A.S. Andersen (1993). Welfare surveys and social reporting in the Nordic countries. Experiences and potential. Paper presented at Working Group 'Social Indicators', Eurostat, Luxembourg, 1 April 1993.

Water, H.P.A. van de and L.M. van Herten (1996). *Bull's Eye or Achilles' Heel; WHO's European Health for All Targets Evaluated in the Netherlands*. TNO Prevention and Health, Division Public Health and Prevention, Leiden.

Willige, G. van de and D. Wiersma (1992). *The measurement of mental disorders and their consequences in health interview surveys.* WHO, Regional Office for Europe, Copenhagen and Netherlands Central Bureau of Statistics, Voorburg/Heerlen.

WHO (1994). *Health in Europe. The 1993/1994 health for all monitoring report.* WHO regional publications, European series, No. 56, Copenhagen.

WHO (1997a). *Health interview survey project. Inventory of health interview surveys in Europe, 1996.* Paper presented on the Fourth Consultation to develop common methods and instruments for health interview surveys in Europe, Copenhagen, 26-28 February 1997.

WHO (1997b). *Harmonizing health interview survey data*. *Results of the 1993/1994 exercise*. Paper presented on the Fourth Consultation to develop common methods and instruments for health interview surveys in Europe, Copenhagen, 26-28 February 1997.